

Medical therapeutic agents for Wilson's disease (Protocol)

Firwana B, Ibrahim N, Taftaf R, Shaneh Saz A, Sonbol MB, Hasan R, Gluud C

Firwana B, Ibrahim N, Taftaf R, Shaneh Saz A, Sonbol MB, Hasan R, Gluud C. Medical therapeutic agents for Wilson's disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD009057. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009057.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	 					. 1	1
ABSTRACT	 				•	. 1	1
BACKGROUND	 				•	. 1	1
OBJECTIVES	 					. 2	2
METHODS							
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS							
REFERENCES							5
APPENDICES							
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS							
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST							
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	 		•	•	•	. 8	3

[Intervention Protocol]

Medical therapeutic agents for Wilson's disease

Belal Firwana¹, Nazir Ibrahim², Rokana Taftaf³, Anas Shaneh Saz³, Mohamad Bassam Sonbol³, Rim Hasan³, Christian Gluud⁴

¹Faculty of Medicine, Damascus University, Damascus, Syrian Arab Republic. ² Alkalamon University, Damascus, Syrian Arab Republic. ³Faculty of Medicine, Damascus University, Damascus, Syrian Arab Republic. ⁴Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group, Copenhagen Trial Unit, Centre for Clinical Intervention Research, Department 3344, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark

Contact address: Belal Firwana, Faculty of Medicine, Damascus University, P.O.Box 12503, Damascus, Syrian Arab Republic. b.firwana@gmail.com.

Editorial group: Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 3, 2011.

Citation: Firwana B, Ibrahim N, Taftaf R, Shaneh Saz A, Sonbol MB, Hasan R, Gluud C. Medical therapeutic agents for Wilson's disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD009057. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009057.

Copyright © 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

This is the protocol for a review and there is no abstract. The objectives are as follows:

To evaluate the beneficial and harmful effects of copper-chelating agents in treating patients with Wilson's disease.

BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Wilson's disease is an autosomal recessive disorder of copper metabolism with a worldwide distribution. The average prevalence of the disease is 30 individuals per million population (Frydman 1990), whereas even higher numbers are observed in areas of consanguinity (Rahil 2010). Wilson's disease is caused by mutations in the ATP7B gene localised on chromosome 13q14.3,6 encoding the ATP7B protein. This protein is responsible for transport of copper across cellular membranes using ATP as an energy source (Cater 2006).

Presentations of Wilson's disease are variable depending on the affected organs. The main two presentations are liver and neuropsychiatric manifestations. Patients either present acutely with liver failure, haemolytic anaemia, or both, or more chronically with liver conditions such as chronic hepatitis, portal hypertension, or cirrhosis (Schoen 1990). In other patients, it may present with neuropsychiatric manifestations, including movement or dystonic disorders, dysarthriae, and behavioural disturbances (Merle 2007). Kayser-Fleischer ring - a pigmented ring at the outer edge of the cornea of the eye - is a characteristic sign of Wilson's disease (Gitlin JD 2003; Ala 2007).

The diagnosis of Wilson's disease is proved by measurement of serum ceruloplasmin, urinary copper excretion, and hepatic copper content, as well as the detection of Kayser-Fleischer rings (El-Youssef 2003). Early diagnosis of Wilson's disease is essential, as treatment of the disease is more effective when initiated early (Medici 2007). Wilson's disease becomes fatal if left untreated (Sternlieb 2005) with a mortality as high as 70% (Chang 2010). Patients with fulminant liver disease can be treated with liver transplantation (Markiewicz-Kijewska 2008).

Description of the intervention

Current treatment of Wilson's disease includes copper-chelators, such as D-penicillamine, trientine, and tetrathiomolybdate, as well

Medical therapeutic agents for Wilson's disease (Protocol)

Copyright © 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

as zinc salts. Lifetime therapy is required in patients with Wilson's disease. Once the diagnosis is secure, whether or not the patient is ill or asymptomatic, treatment should be given in two phases. The first is removing the tissue copper that has accumulated, and the second is preventing re-accumulation of copper (Wiggelinkhuizen 2009). D-penicillamine is the primary chelator (Roberts 2003). However, approximately 30% of patients do not tolerate long-term therapy because of adverse events, and it may not be the treatment of choice in patients with neurologic symptoms. Zinc seems to be preferred above D-penicillamine for treatment of presymptomatic and neurological patients. Trientine has traditionally been used as a second-line agent, but it is also a reasonable option for primary therapy, and it may be the preferred treatment because of lower association with adverse events (Wiggelinkhuizen 2009). The best therapeutic approach for each specific presentation of the disease remains controversial, and there is no universally accepted regimen (Ala 2007).

How the intervention might work

Penicillamine and trientine bind to copper in the body, resulting in its increased urinary excretion, whereas tetrathiomolybdate acts by forming a tripartite complex with copper and protein, either in the intestinal lumen where it prevents copper absorption, or in the circulation where it makes the copper unavailable for cellular uptake (Walshe 1956; Jones 1984). Zinc acts by blocking the carrier in the intestinal epithelial cells for copper transport (Yuzbasiya 1992; Jablonska-Kaszewska 2003). In addition, it increases the levels of metallothionein in enterocytes that acts as an intracellular ligand binding copper and holding it until it is excreted in the faeces with desquamated epithelial cells (Yuzbasiya 1992; Jablonska-Kaszewska 2003). Furthermore, both chelators and zinc can induce copper binding metallothionein in hepatocytes, thereby reducing the damaging effects of free copper (Goering 1985; Lee 1989).

Why it is important to do this review

Currently, the main standard treatment used for treating patients with Wilson's disease are copper-chelating agents (penicillamine, trientine, ammonium tetrathiomolybdate, and zinc salts). However, some of these drugs have severe adverse events, and unfortunately, a large proportion of patients cannot tolerate them. During our search, we could not find meta-analyses of systematic reviews of randomised clinical trials evaluating the beneficial and harmful effects of copper-chelating agents for Wilson's disease. Thus, we found it important to study the effects of these drugs.

OBJECTIVES

To evaluate the beneficial and harmful effects of copper-chelating agents in treating patients with Wilson's disease.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We will include all randomised clinical trials assessing the beneficial and harmful effects of chelating agents for Wilson's disease, irrespective of publication status, or language. Quasi-randomised and observational studies will be excluded for the study of their benefit, but will be considered only for the report of harm.

Types of participants

We will include:

- Patients of either sex, having Wilson's disease as defined by the trialists.

All spectrum of Wilson's disease patients, whether they are asymptomatic, or they have hepatic, or neuropsychiatric manifestations.
Patients who are treatment-naive or treated for the first time, as defined by the trialists.

We will exclude patients who are on maintenance therapy.

Types of interventions

• Copper-chelating interventions (D-penicillamine, trientine, ammonium tetrathiomolybdate) or zinc salts versus any other kind of copper-chelating therapy or zinc salts.

Drug treatment of Wilson's disease is instituted once the diagnosis is secure whether the patient is ill or asymptomatic. Co-interventions will be allowed if administered equally to all groups of a trial.

Types of outcome measures

Outcomes of clinical improvements will be considered only if reported two to six months after the initiation of drug therapy.

Primary outcomes

1. All-cause mortality.

 Morbidity, related to the liver (acute liver failure, chronic hepatitis and signs of hepatic decompensation such as ascites, bleeding varices, and/or splenomegaly, cirrhosis, and liver transplantation).
 Adverse events defined as any untoward medical occurrence not necessarily having a causal relationship with the treatment,

Medical therapeutic agents for Wilson's disease (Protocol) Copyright © 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. but resulting in a dose reduction or discontinuation of treatment (ICH-GCP 1997). Severe adverse events are defined as any event that would increase mortality; is life-threatening; requires inpatient hospitalisation; results in a persistent or significant disability; or any important medical event, which may jeopardise the patient or require intervention to prevent it.

4. Quality of life.

Secondary outcomes

1. Clinical findings including:

• neuropsychiatric symptoms: number of patiens without improvement of neuropsychiatric symptoms or neuropsychiatric score.

• liver-related symptoms: number of patiens without improvement of liver-related symptom.

 Number of patiens with drug withdrawal/drug discontinuation.
 Number of patiens without biochemical responses (serum nonceruloplasmin-bound copper concentration and 24-hour urinary copper excretion, and serum activities of aspartate transaminase and alanine aminotransferase).

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We will search *The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group Controlled Trials Register* (Gluud 2010), *The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials* (CENTRAL) in *The Cochrane Library, MEDLINE, EMBASE,* and *Science Citation Index Expanded* (Royle 2003). We have presented the preliminary search strategies in Appendix 1 with the time span for the searches. The search strategies may need to be improved during our work on the review.

Searching other resources

The bibliographic references of identified randomised clinical trials, review articles, and meta-analyses will be checked in order to identify additional randomised clinical trials not found by the electronic searches.

Data collection and analysis

We will perform the review and meta-analyses following the recommendations of The Cochrane Collaboration (Higgins 2009) and *The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group Module* (Gluud 2010). The analyses will be performed using Review Manager 5 (RevMan 2008).

Selection of studies

Two authors will independently identify trials for inclusion. Firstly, titles and abstracts of the records retrieved by the search will be assessed in order to exclude those that are irrelevant. For the remaining records, full-text articles will be retrieved and assessed in order to select trials that meet the inclusion criteria. We will list the trials excluded from the second round and give the reasons for their exclusion.

Data extraction and management

We will develop a standardised template form for data collection and extraction. Data on methods, participants, interventions and outcomes, as listed above, will be extracted.

If more than one publication on a randomised clinical trial is identified, the most recent data will be extracted.

Two authors will extract all data independently. Disagreements will be resolved by discussion among the authors.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Methodological quality is defined as the confidence that the design and report will restrict bias in the intervention comparison of beneficial effects (Moher 1998). According to empirical evidence (Schulz 1995; Moher 1998; Jüni 2001; Kjaergard 2001; Wood 2008), evaluation of the risk of bias could be achieved through assessing the following domains:

Sequence allocation generation

• Low risk of bias. Sequence generation was achieved using computer random number generation or a random number table. Drawing lots, tossing a coin, shuffling cards, and throwing dice are adequate if performed by an independent adjudicator.

• Uncertain risk of bias. The trial is described as randomised, but the method of sequence generation was not specified.

• High risk of bias. The sequence generation method is not, or may not be, random. Quasi-randomised studies, those using dates, names, or admittance numbers in order to allocate patients are studies with high risk of bias and will, therefore, be excluded for the assessment of benefits but not for harms.

Allocation concealment

• Low risk of bias. Allocation was controlled by a central and independent randomisation units, opaque, sealed, and serially numbered envelopes; or similar so that intervention allocations could not have been foreseen in advance of, or, during enrolment.

• Uncertain risk of bias. The trial was described as randomised, but the method used to conceal the allocation was not described, so that intervention allocations may have been foreseen in advance of, or enrolment.

• High risk of bias, if the allocation sequence was known to the investigators who assigned participants, or if the study was quasi-randomised. Quasi-randomised studies will be excluded for the assessment of benefits but not for harms.

Medical therapeutic agents for Wilson's disease (Protocol)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Blinding of participants, personnel, and outcome assessors

• Low risk of bias. Blinding was performed adequately, or the outcome measurement is not likely to be influenced by lack of blinding.

• Uncertain risk of bias. There is insufficient information to assess whether the type of blinding used is likely to induce bias on the estimate of effect).

• High risk of bias. There is no blinding or incomplete blinding, and the outcome or the outcome measurement is likely to be influenced by lack of blinding.

Incomplete outcome data

• Low risk of bias. The underlying reasons for missingness are unlikely to make treatment effects departure from plausible values, or proper methods have been employed to handle missing data.

• Uncertain risk of bias. There is insufficient information to assess whether the missing data mechanism in combination with the method used to handle missing data is likely to induce bias on the estimate of effect.

• High risk of bias. The crude estimate of effects (eg, complete case estimate) will clearly be biased due to the underlying reasons for missingness, and the methods used to handle missing data are unsatisfactory.

Selective outcome reporting

• Low risk of bias. The trial protocol is available and all of the trial's pre-specified outcomes that are of interest in the review have been reported or similar.

• Uncertain risk of bias. There is insufficient information to assess whether the magnitude and direction of the observed effect is related to selective outcome reporting.

• High risk of bias. Not all of the trial's pre-specified primary outcomes have been reported or similar.

Other risk of bias

• Low risk of bias (the trial appears to be free of other components that could put it at risk of bias).

• Uncertain risk of bias (the trial may or may not be free of other components that could put it at risk of bias).

• High risk of bias (there are other factors in the trial that could put it at risk of bias, eg, for-profit involvement (eg, sponsor bias), authors have conducted trials on the same topic (academic bias) etc.).

If the risk of bias in a trial is judged as low in all the above domains, the trial will fall into the category of "low risk of bias" group. If the risk of bias is judged to be "uncertain" or "high", then the trial will fall into the group of trials with "high risk of bias". All the above bias risk domains will be assessed independently by two authors. Disagreements between the authors will be resolved by discussion and arbitrated with a third author.

Measures of treatment effect

Dichotomous data

The relative risks with 95% confidence intervals (CI) will be calculated by the fixed-effect model (DeMets 1987) and the randomeffects model (DerSimonian 1986), and where relevant, as risk difference (RD) and number needed to treat (NNT). We will report both models in case of disagreement between them. Otherwise, we will only report the fixed-effect model.

Continuous data

Mean differences with 95% CI will be calculated for continuous outcome measures (DeMets 1987). The standardised mean difference (SMD) will be used to combine trials that measure the same outcome, but have used different methods.

Unit of analysis issues

We will analyse aggregate data from the intervention groups of randomised clinical trials. In case no randomised clinical trials are identified, we will summarise the results of published studies in the 'Discussion' section. The summary will be conceived with the purpose of guiding the researchers who wish to conduct randomised clinical trials on the effect of chelating agents for Wilson's disease.

If our searches identify any cross-over trials, we will take only data from the first trial period into consideration.

Dealing with missing data

All analyses will be performed according to the intention-to-treat method, using the last reported observed response ('carry forward'), and including all participants irrespective of compliance or follow-up. In addition, 'worst-case scenario' and 'best-case scenario' analyses will be performed, and participants with missing data will be considered as treatment failures or treatment successes. Also, we will impute the mean as a third analysis method.

Assessment of heterogeneity

Statistical heterogeneity will be assessed by inspection of graphical presentations ('forest plot') (Egger 1997) and by calculating both the I-square and the Chi-square tests statistic (Higgins 2009).

Assessment of reporting biases

Funnel plot asymmetry will be used to assess the existence of bias if there are a minimum number of ten trials (Egger 1997).

Data synthesis

We will attempt a meta-analysis where there are sufficient data of suitable type, using RevMan 5 (RevMan 2008). In the event that there are too few clinically homogeneous trials for us to be able to

perform a meta-analysis, we will present a narrative synthesis of the data (RevMan 2008).

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

If possible, we will perform subgroup analyses in this review according to:

• Risk of bias. Trials with low risk of bias compared to trials with high risk of bias.

- Severity of liver disease at entry.
- Severity of neurological symptoms at entry.

Sensitivity analysis

We will utilise the trial sequential analysis to test the robustness of our findings (Wetterslev 2008). The required information size will

be calculated based on the event proportion in the control group, a relative risk reduction of 10%, 20%, and 30%, an alpha of 5%, a beta of 20%, and the diversity in the meta-analysis (Wetterslev 2008).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group for their help during the development of this protocol.

Peer Reviewers: Uta Merle, Germany; Luit Penninga, Denmark, Radan Bruha, The Czech Republic.

Contact Editor: Rosa Simonetti, Italy.

REFERENCES

Additional references

Ala 2007

Ala A, Walker AP, Ashkan K, Dooley JS, Schilsky ML. Wilson's disease. *Lancet* 2007;**369**:397–408.

Cater 2006

Cater MA, La Fontaine S, Shield K, Deal Y, Mercer JF. ATP7B mediates vesicular sequestration of copper: insight into biliary copper excretion. *Gastroenterology* 2006;**130**: 493–506.

Chang 2010

Chang CH. Wilson Disease. http:// emedicine.medscape.com/article/1153622-overview (Accessed 5 March 2010).

DeMets 1987

DeMets DL. Methods for combining randomized clinical trials: strengths and limitations. *Statistics in Medicine* 1987; **6**(3):341–50.

DerSimonian 1986

DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1986;7:177–88.

Egger 1997

Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* (*Clinical Research Ed.*) 1997;**315**:629–34.

El-Youssef 2003

El-Youssef M. Wilson disease. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 2003;78:7–8.

Frydman 1990

Frydman M. Genetic aspects of Wilsons disease. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 1990;**483**:490–5.

Gitlin JD 2003

Gitlin JD. Wilson disease. *Gastroenterology* 2003;**125**: 1868–77.

Gluud 2010

Gluud C, Nikolova D, Klingenberg SL, Alexakis N, Als-Nielsen B, Colli A, et al. Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group. About The Cochrane Collaboration (Cochrane Review Groups (CRGs)). 2011, Issue 1. Art. No.: LIVER.

Goering 1985

Goering PL, Tandon SK, Klaassen CD. Induction of hepatic metallothionein in mouse liver following administration of chelating agents. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 1985;**80**:467–72.

Higgins 2009

Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.0.2 [updated September 2009]. The Cochrane Colloboration, 2009. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.

ICH-GCP 1997

International Conference on Harmonisation Expert Working Group. International conference on harmonisation of technical requirements for registration of pharmaceuticals for human use. ICH harmonised tripartite guideline. Guideline for good clinical practice1997 CFR & ICH Guidelines. Vol. 1, PA 19063-2043, USA: Barnett International/PAREXEL, 1997.

Jablonska-Kaszewska 2003

Jablonska-Kaszewska I, Drobinska-Jurowiecka A, Dabrowska E, Trocha H. Results of treatment of Wilsons disease. *Medical Science Monitor* 2003;**9**:9–14.

Jones 1984

Jones HB, Gooneratne SR, Howel JM. X-ray microanalysis of liver and kidney in copper loaded sheep with and without thiomolybdate administration. *Research in Veterinary Science* 1984;**37**:273.

Medical therapeutic agents for Wilson's disease (Protocol)

Copyright © 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Jüni 2001

Jüni P, Altman DG, Egger M. Systematic reviews in health care: assessing the quality of controlled clinical trials. *BMJ* (*Clinical Research Ed.*) 2001;**323**:42–6.

Kjaergard 2001

Kjaergard LL, Villumsen J, Gluud C. Reported methodologic quality and discrepancies between large and small randomised trials in meta-analyses. Annals of Internal Medicine 2001; Vol. 135, issue 11:982–9.

Lee 1989

Lee DY, Brewer GJ, Wang YX. Treatment of Wilson's disease with zinc. VII. Protection of the liver from copper toxicity by zinc-induced metallothionein in a rat model. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine* 1989;**114**:639–45.

Markiewicz-Kijewska 2008

Markiewicz-Kijewska M, Szymczak M, Ismail H, Prokurat S, Teisseyre J, Socha P, et al. Liver transplantation for fulminant Wilson's disease in children. *Annals of Transplantation* 2008;**13**(2):29–31.

Medici 2007

Medici V, Rossaro L, Sturniolo GC. Wilson disease - a practical approach to diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Digestive and Liver Disease* 2007;**39**:601–9.

Merle 2007

Merle U, Schaefer M, Ferenci P, Stremmel W. Clinical presentation, diagnosis and long-term outcome of Wilson's disease. *Gut* 2007;**56**:115–20.

Moher 1998

Moher D, Pham B, Jones A, Cook DJ, Jadad A, Moher M, et al. Does quality of reports of randomised trials affect estimates of intervention efficacy reported in meta-analysis. *Lancet* 1998;**352**:609–13.

Rahil 2010

Shah R, Piper MH. Wilson disease. http:// emedicine.medscape.com/article/183456-overview (Accessed 5 March 2010).

RevMan 2008 [Computer program]

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager(RevMan). Version 5.0. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2008.

Roberts 2003

Roberts EA, Schilsky ML. A practice guideline on Wilson disease. *Hepatology* 2003;**37**:1475.

Royle 2003

Royle P, Milne R. Literature searching for randomised controlled trials used in Cochrane reviews: rapid versus exhaustive searches. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 2003;**19**(4):591–603.

Schoen 1990

Schoen RE, Sternlieb I. Clinical aspects of Wilsons disease. American Journal of Gastroenterology 1990;85:1453–7.

Schulz 1995

Schulz KF, Chalmers I, Hayes RJ, Altman DG. Empirical evidence of bias: Dimensions of methodological quality associated with estimates of treatment effects in controlled trials. *JAMA* 1995;**273**:408–12.

Sternlieb 2005

Sternlieb I. Wilson's disease: Transplantation when all else has failed. *Hepatology* 2005;**8**(4):975–6.

Walshe 1956

Walshe JM. Wilson's disease; new oral therapy. *Lancet* 1956; **270**:6–25.

Wetterslev 2008

Wetterslev J, Thorlund K, Brok J, Gluud C. Trial sequential analysis may establish when firm evidence is reached in cumulative meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2008;**61**(1):64–75.

Wiggelinkhuizen 2009

Wiggelinkhuizen M, Tilanus ME, Bollen CW, Houwen RH. Systematic review: clinical efficacy of chelator agents and zinc in the initial treatment of Wilson disease. *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 2009;**29**:947.

Wood 2008

Wood L, Egger M, Gluud LL, Schulz KF, Juni P, Altman GD, et al. Empirical evidence of bias in treatment effect estimates in controlled trials with different interventions and outcomes: meta-epidemiological study. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)* 2008;**336**:601–5.

Yuzbasiya 1992

Yuzbasiyan-Gurkan V, Grider A, Nostrant T, Cousins RJ, Brewer GJ. Treatment of Wilson disease with zinc: X. Intestinal metallothionein induction. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine* 1992;**120**:380.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

APPENDICES

Appendix I. Search strategies

1 Search Strategies

Database	Time span of search	Time span of search
Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group Con- trolled Trials Register	Date will be given at review stage.	Wilson* AND (chelat* OR copper OR penicillamine OR trientine OR 'ammonium tetrathiomolybdate' OR zinc)
Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) in The Cochrane Li- brary	Latest issue.	 #1 MeSH descriptor Hepatolenticular Degeneration explode all trees #2 wilson's disease #3 (#1 OR #2) #4 MeSH descriptor Chelating Agents explode all trees #5 MeSH descriptor Chelation Therapy explode all trees #6 (chelat* OR copper OR penicillamine OR trientine OR 'ammonium tetrathiomolybdate' OR zinc) #7 (#4 OR #5 OR #6) #8 (#3 AND #7) 25
MEDLINE (Ovid SP)	1950 to the date of search.	 exp Hepatolenticular Degeneration/ wilson's disease.mp. [mp=title, original title, abstract, name of substance word, subject heading word, unique identifier] 1 or 2 exp Chelating Agents/ exp Chelation Therapy/ (chelat* or copper or penicillamine or trientine or 'ammonium tetrathiomolybdate' or zinc).mp. [mp=title, original title, abstract, name of substance word, subject heading word, unique identifier] 4 or 5 or 6 3 and 7 (random* or blind* or placebo* or meta-analysis).mp. [mp=title, original title, abstract, name of substance word, subject heading word, unique identifier] 10. 8 and 9
EMBASE (Ovid SP)	1980 to the date of search.	 exp Wilson disease/ wilson's disease.mp. [mp=title, abstract, subject headings, heading word, drug trade name, origi- nal title, device manufacturer, drug manufacturer name]

Medical therapeutic agents for Wilson's disease (Protocol) Copyright © 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

(Continued)

		 3. 1 or 2 4. exp chelating agent/ 5. exp chelation therapy/ 6. (chelat* or copper or penicillamine or trientine or 'ammonium tetrathiomolybdate' or zinc). mp. [mp=title, abstract, subject headings, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug manufacturer name] 7. 4 or 5 or 6 8. 3 and 7 9. (random* or blind* or placebo* or meta-analysis) .mp. [mp=title, abstract, subject headings, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug manufacturer name] 10. 8 and 9
Science Citation Index Expanded (http://apps.isiknowledge.com)	1900 to the date of search.	 # 5 #4 AND #3 # 4 TS=(random* or blind* or placebo* or meta- analysis) # 3 #2 AND #1 # 2 TS=(chelat* or copper or penicillamine or tri- entine or 'ammonium tetrathiomolybdate' or zinc) # 1 TS=(Wilson's disease)

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

All authors contributed to the draft version of the protocol.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None known.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group, Denmark.

External sources

• No sources of support supplied